
 
 

Minutes of the General Assembly Meeting on March 4, 2009 
 
The tenth regularly scheduled meeting of GAPSA General Assembly was convened on 
March 4, 2009 at 7:34 PM in the Bodek Lounge in Houston Hall. 
 
 
Roll Call and Declaration of Quorum 
 
Present were: Andrew Rennekamp, Alejandro Hagan, Jonathan Lukens, Christa 
Heyward, Jessica Kim, Esther Agbaje, Omar Khan, Natalie Williams, Sarah Smith, Susan 
Haas, Carla Cue, Leslie Warden, Tim Shokair, Wenting Li, Raleigh Martin, Jack 
Higgins, Allison Sullivan, Jacob Uriel, Jill Harrison, Christy Chavez, Alexander Balloon, 
Heather Curl, Stephanie Wujcik, Maher Zamel, Swathi Madaiah, Lee Solomon, Jacqui 
Simonet, Meredith Edwards, Corbett Brown, Tom Byrne, Karuna Patil, Henry Friedman 
and Matt Walters. 
 
Quorum was not declared. 
 
GAPSA Chair Andrew Rennekamp stated that First Vice Chair Alejandro Hagan would 
be chairing the meeting. 
 
 
GAPSA Feedback Surveys 
 
Mr. Hagan passed out GAPSA feedback surveys to all Assembly members.  Vice Chair 
for Research Students Jonathan Lukens explained that this is a chance for Assembly 
members to give feedback anonymously. 
 
 
Reports 
 
ChairÕs Report 
 
Recent Amendment to the Federal Economic Reinvestment and Recovery Act 
 
Mr. Rennekamp stated that there has been an amendment to the Economic Reinvestment 
and Recovery Act (a.k.a. the “Stimulus Bill”) recently passed by Congress that prevents 
recipients institutions receiving funding from the Troubled Assets Relief Program 
(TARP) from hiring workers holding H-1B visas .  Mr. Rennekamp stated that at least 
two Penn students have recently had their job offers rescinded due to this amendment.  
Mr. Rennekamp stated that the University is concerned about this as it is unsure how 
many more students could be affected by this.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that prospective 
students entering into finance programs, such as Wharton and undergraduate students 
majoring in economics, may be most affected.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that GAPSA is 



 
 
reaching out to all University departments including Career Services, the Wharton 
School, and the Office of the Vice President of the Office for Communications and 
Government Affairs.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that he is unsure how the wording of the 
amendment will affect companies hiring newly graduated students holding these visas.  
Mr. Rennekamp stated that the Assembly could draft a resolution concerning this issue 
and should contact Vice Chair for International Affairs Omar Khan as the GAPSA 
International Student Council is also interested in this. 
 
 
First Vice ChairÕs Report 
 
First Vice Chair Alejandro Hagan stated that the Leadership Committee chose 40 
individuals to attend the Leadership Retreat that will be held from March 13-15th.  Mr. 
Hagan stated the Leadership Committee is making plans for next year’s Leadership 
Retreat as well. 
 
 
Vice Chair for Professional StudentsÕ Report 
 
Vice Chair for Professional Students Mat Abramsky was not present for his report. 
 
 
Vice Chair for Research StudentsÕ Report 
 
Vice Chair for Research Students Jonathan Lukens stated that the Research Student 
Council approved funding for different events such as a graduate student group interested 
in holding a Linguistic Colloquium.  Mr. Lukens stated that Lambda Grads originally 
approached the Assembly for funding to have Massachusetts State Senator Cheryl 
Jacques, the first openly gay state senator, speak to the Penn community.  This will be a 
part of the Q-Penn event.  Mr. Lukens stated that different groups offered to fund this and 
the Research Council approved $1000 in funding for the Lambda Grads event.  Mr. 
Lukens stated that he will make a challenge to the Professional Council to help split this 
$1000 cost.  If not, then the Research Council stated it would be happy to fund the full 
$1000.  Mr. Lukens stated that this event will appeal to both research and professional 
students.  Mr. Lukens stated that the Research Council decided to use the leftover 
Research Council funding to fund an additional GAPSA-Provost Interdisciplinary Award 
specifically for a research student.  This award amounts to $6000. 
 
 
Vice Chair for International AffairsÕ Report 
 
Vice Chair for International Affairs Omar Khan had nothing to report. 
 
 



 
 
Vice Chair for Equity and AccessÕ Report 
 
Vice Chair for Equity and Access Esther Agbaje stated that the Pluralism Council will 
fund $500 towards the Lambda Grads Q-Penn event on March 23rd.  Ms. Agbaje stated 
that the Student Life Policy Council will also fund $500 towards this event.  Ms. Agbaje 
introduced Mr. Frank Yoon, the Chair of Lambda Grads.  Mr. Yoon thanked the 
Assembly for its commitment to diversity and pluralism.  Mr. Lukens asked where this 
event will be located.  Mr. Yoon stated that the location has not yet been decided on, 
  
Vice Chair for Student Life’s Report 
 
Vice Chair for Student Life Nikki was not present for her report. 
 
 
Vice Chair for FinanceÕs Report 
 
Vice Chair for Finance Christa Heyward had nothing to report. 
 
 
Vice Chair for Social ActivitiesÕ Report 
 
Vice Chair for Social Activities Jessica Kim there will be another Beer Week event at 
City Tavern next Friday and tickets are still available for this.  Ms. Kim stated that the 
rest of the events are posted on the GAPSA website. 
 
 
Vice Chair for Student ProgramsÕ Report 
 
Deputy Vice Chair for Student Programs Stephanie Wujcik stated that there will be a trip 
to see the Turandot Opera.  There will also be trips to see the Philadelphia Phantoms and 
Kixx games.  On March 23rd there will be a rock climbing event and on March 28th there 
will be a soccer tournament.  The Student Programs Committee is planning lunch and 
dinner events and a trip to Valley Forge. 
 
 
Vice Chair for CommunicationsÕ Report 
 
Vice Chair for Communications Natalie Williams had nothing to report. 
 
 
Vice Chair for OperationsÕ Report 
 
Vice Chair for Operations Sarah Smith had nothing to report.   
 



 
 
 
Ad Hoc Committee for the Campus Climate Survey 
 
GAPSA Representative Lee Solomon stated that a Resolution on a Campus Climate 
Survey, authored by the committee, was distributed to the Assembly earlier in the week.  
Mr. Solomon stated that the committee was submitting the resolution to the Assembly to 
eventually approve this document so that it may be brought to the Office of the Provost 
and sent to other University Offices to be fine-tuned.  The goal is to eventually have this 
survey distributed to the entire graduate and professional student body periodically.   
 
Mr. Rennekamp asked for a point of inquiry on the status of quorum.  Quorum was not 
obtained. 
 
GAPSA Representative Alexander Balloon asked to suspend the rules regarding quorum 
and voting.  Mr. Rennekamp stated the members present did not have the authority to 
suspend the rules without quorum. Mr. Rennekamp also stated that the document in this 
form can still be presented to the Office of the Provost pending a formal GAPSA vote or 
resolution. GAPSA Representative Corbett Brown stated that this could be presented in a 
similar fashion as a GAPSA resolution without it actually being a resolution yet.   
 
Mr. Solomon asked for any feedback concerning the Campus Climate Survey.  Ms. 
Heyward stated that it important to address international students in the survey and 
ensure that the questions added to the survey are appropriate.  Ms. Heyward also stated 
that there were not many questions concerning financial aid for professional students and 
there were few questions about Career Services.   GAPSA Representative Heather Curl 
stated that more questions concerning diversity could be added at the end of the survey.  
Ms. Curl stated that an LGBT question could be added in order to have more specific 
questions.  Mr. Rennekamp agreed with Ms. Curl and stated that the University Non-
Discriminatory Statement should be referenced in order to include questions on age, 
gender, sex, and etcetera.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that only race and ethnicity were listed.  
Mr. Rennekamp recommended an amendment to the final section of the survey to include 
questions similar to the Non-Discriminatory Statement.  Mr. Solomon stated that this 
would be a friendly amendment.   
 
GAPSA Representative Leslie Warden stated that the question about Penn making 
available all resources required and needed to obtain a degree is vague and material 
oriented.  Ms. Warden stated that some students travel for their degree.  Mr. Solomon 
stated that he would look into this.  Ms. Heyward stated that Design students attend 
international trips and the cost of this is not included in their programs.  Mr. Balloon 
stated that this can be an issue if a professor is unable to obtain a sponsor.  Mr. Balloon 
stated that sometimes if the trip funding falls through then the course may be dropped 
from the curriculum or the students are notified that they must obtain their own funding.  
Ms. Heyward asked if these international trips are required for the Design degree.  Mr. 



 
 
Balloon stated that they are not but if the student wishes to enroll in the class and there is 
no funding, then the student must fund the cost.   
 
Mr. Solomon stated that he will be meeting with the Office of the Provost.  The survey 
will then be fine tuned by the schools that put together surveys as it is difficult for the 
Campus Climate Survey Committee members to think of and include every issue in the 
survey.   
 
Mr. Rennekamp asked if the Assembly had any comments on the wording of the 
resolution included with the Campus Climate Survey.  Ms. Warden stated that under the 
Resolve concerning “owning” the survey there should be something concerning the use 
of this data.  Ms. Warden asked what “owning” a survey meant.  Mr. Rennekamp stated 
that the word ‘own’ is a technical term as the University has guidelines on how surveys 
are run at Penn.  Mr. Solomon stated that surveys cannot be distributed without 
administration backing.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that ideally the Council of the Graduate 
Deans and/or the Office of the Provost will be the owner of the Campus Climate Survey.   
 
Mr. Solomon stated that if anyone has any questions concerning the survey, that they 
should be emailed to him.  Mr. Khan asked when the survey will be presented to the 
Office of the Provost.  Mr. Solomon stated that any additional questions can be included 
before it is presented to the Office of the Provost in approximately a week and a half.  
Mr. Khan stated that he will send additional questions to be included in the survey. 
 
 
Surplus Discussion 
 
Ms. Heyward stated that the Executive Board thought focus groups would be an efficient 
way to discussing the surplus issue.  Ms. Heyward stated that she has a copy of the 
January budget and the surplus amount.  During the focus group discussion, Assembly 
members will discuss the issues and the Executive Board members will take notes.  Ms. 
Heyward stated that the current state of the surplus is approximately $50,000 once the 
previously approved funding requests are distributed.  Mr. Hagan requested that the 
discussion last 20 minutes and that at the end of the discussion each group would present 
its findings. 
 
The Assembly was divided into focus groups for approximately 20 minutes. At the end of 
the allotted time, full group discussion resumed. 
GAPSA Representative Tim Shokair stated that his group decided that a GAPSA surplus 
looks bad and sends the wrong message.  A more reasonable use for this funding should 
be a rainy day fund that is not as large.  If for some reason the rainy day fund needs to be 
larger, then that year’s Assembly will work that year to increase it.  Mr. Shokair stated 
that $50,000 is too large for a rainy day fund and that $10,000-$15,000 would be more 
appropriate.  Mr. Shokair stated that there should be rules on how to spend this rainy day 
fund and must have Assembly approval in order to use this funding.  This should be a 



 
 
buffer for unexpected expenses.  Mr. Shokair stated that if there are extra expenses to 
come out of the rainy day fund, then next year’s budget can be shifted in order to replace 
the rainy day buffer amount.  The surplus would be anything above a rainy day fund and 
may be spent on whatever the Assembly chooses.  The Assembly representatives should 
know on what the general body of graduate and professional students would like to use 
this money.  This rainy day fund should be separate from the GAPSA operating budget 
but can be allocated in the beginning of the academic year. 
 
GAPSA Representative Henry Friedman stated that his group decided that GAPSA 
should reserve some money for potential expenditures.  The surplus should be carried 
forward and there should be designed cutoffs on what to spend on and how to spend this 
funding.  This should be an emergency fund that is only used on capital expenditures and 
it is important how to decide who may receive these capital expenditures.  Mr. Friedman 
stated that the Executive Board could decide this or a 2/3 or 3/4 majority vote of the 
Assembly.  Any funding that is above the set emergency fund amount may be spent on 
anything.  Any funding above this set amount cannot be carried over from year to year.   
 
GAPSA Representative Heather Curl stated that her group had a theoretical conversation 
and decided that it is important to recommend to future Assemblies that a surplus must be 
reinvested into the student body.  Ms. Curl stated that what GAPSA does now is 
important and sets a precedent.  Mr. Balloon stated that he would be hesitant to spend the 
surplus on capital expenditures such as new chairs and fixing elevators. 
 
GAPSA Representative Stephanie Wujcik stated that her group decided there should be a 
rainy day fund of $20,000.  Ms. Wujcik stated that the term emergency fund can be 
confusing.  There needs to exist a rainy day fund but it should not be for a committee or 
group that accidentally or irresponsibly over-budgets, as this is not an ‘emergency.’  In 
addition, there should be a discretionary fund of $20,000 as a line item in the GAPSA 
operating budget for external groups to request funding from GAPSA.  Events such as the 
Maya Angelou and Lambda Grads events could receive funding from this line item.  
Organizations or groups that are spearheaded by GAPSA would not be able to receive 
funding from this line item.  There should also be guidelines in place for the handling of 
future surpluses. 
 
Mr. Lukens stated that his group agreed with most of the points brought up.  There should 
be an emergency fund in place totaling $10,000-$15,000.  One of the issues discussed is 
that items typically funded by the surplus in the past should have been line items in the 
GAPSA operating budget.  GradFest should be one of these line items.  There should also 
be a General Assembly Discretionary Fund that is budgeted yearly for these types of 
funding requests.  There should also be a better system for how funding requests are 
handled since currently they are received piecemeal.  Another issue discussed without 
resolution was whether the emergency fund should be $10,000-15,000 or if it should be a 
percentage of the operating budget.   
 



 
 
Mr. Hagan asked if any member wished to discuss these findings.  Mr. Hagan noted that 
quorum was not declared so no resolutions could be passed.  Mr. Friedman stated that 
GAPSA is not properly differentiating the current surplus and surpluses that may come 
out of future GAPSA budgets.  Mr. Rennekamp asked what this entails.  Mr. Friedman 
stated that new funding could be created but asked if the emergency fund is depleted, 
how could it be replenished.  Mr. Friedman asked if this would be from year to year or 
for the amount currently in the surplus.  Mr. Friedman asked if GAPSA would be willing 
to spend down the current surplus to the emergency fund level.  Mr. Lukens stated that 
this was discussed in his group and is lurking behind the idea of a surplus.  GAPSA 
representative Jacob Uriel stated that if future Assemblies spend down their emergency 
funds, then they will replenish it.  Mr. Uriel stated that an emergency does not constitute 
an extra event.  Mr. Uriel asked if the emergency fund would always be a running 
$20,000. Mr. Hagan stated that the Assembly would have to decide.   
 
GAPSA representative Carolyn Chernoff stated that in her focus group there was 
discussion that the surplus money came from student fees.  Ms. Chernoff stated that it is 
the responsibility of the student body to spend this surplus down.  The money must be 
spend on students and not hoarded.   
 
Ms. Warden stated that the consensus seems to be  that there should be an emergency 
fund, either $10,000-15,000 or a percentage of the operating budget total.  Ms. Warden 
stated that this fund should never surpass this amount.  If there is more money than this 
set amount, it should be funneled into the General Assembly discretionary fund with the 
intent of spending it the following year.  Mr. Balloon asked if a programmatic 
inconvenience constitutes an emergency.  Mr. Balloon asked what is a legitimate way to 
spend student money and not University money.  Ms. Heyward stated that a flood in the 
Graduate Student Center is not a GAPSA related emergency in need of GAPSA 
emergency funding.  Ms. Heyward stated that everything is discretionary, including 
furniture in the Graduate Student Center.  Ms. Heyward stated that a true emergency 
seems too drastic to receive GAPSA funding.   
 
Mr. Friedman stated that a discretionary fund sounds like a line item and this does not 
concern what happens when GAPSA generates a surplus.  Mr. Friedman stated that 
unforeseen events that graduate and professional students have a great interest in could 
have a simple majority vote in the Assembly to fund.  Mr. Friedman stated that each Vice 
Chair should have more leeway in their budgets.  Mr. Friedman stated that sometimes it 
is impossible to pass the amount that is budgeted to a Vice Chair.  If a Vice Chair does 
not have money to spend past his or her budget and this is not a recurring issue, then he 
or she will under-spend and a surplus will be generated from this under-spending.   
 
Mr. Uriel stated that there should be a requirement in the GAPSA Constitution that 
anything above the emergency fund amount must be spent before the next year’s 
Assembly is formed.  The surplus can be put into a fund for students needing grants.  Mr. 



 
 
Uriel stated that the rules governing these grants now are too restrictive and could be 
loosened.   
 
Mr. Rennekamp stated that he agreed with Ms. Heyward that GAPSA would not be 
required to pay for a flood in a building.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that the use of the word 
‘emergency’ should be discouraged as GAPSA will not have true emergencies.  Mr. 
Rennekamp stated that he sees this funding not as an emergency fund but more as a 
buffer.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that it is difficult when so many people are spending from 
the same budget, to determine in real time how much money is still available.  This is 
especially true when GAPSA gives out grants and money is not collected until student 
travels are completed.  Despite routine budget audits, a buffer is needed.  Mr. Rennekamp 
noted that the current GAPSA surplus has acted as what is being proposed as a 
“Discretionary Fund,” as the Assembly has had the discretion to spend the surplus.   
 
Ms. Heyward stated that she will compile the information collected from the focus groups 
and send it to the Assembly.  Ms. Heyward stated that the details of this must still be 
discussed.   
 
Mr. Lukens agreed that an “emergency fund” is not appropriate nomenclature.  Mr. 
Lukens stated that a certain buffer must be maintained.  Mr. Lukens stated that the 
Research Council may approve $18,000 in travel grants but only reimburse $10,000 or 
everyone could submit for full reimbursement.  In these instances, the Council could 
either be under-budget or over-budget.  However, if the Vice Chair for Research does not 
routinely over-spend in allocations, a surplus could be rapidly accumulated.  Mr. Lukens 
stated that he would be concerned if the surplus were depleted entirely.  Mr. Lukens 
stated that the current surplus has acted as a discretionary fund and there has been no 
regulation on how funding requests are spent.  Over the past three years ‘emergency’ 
funding requests have come from student groups and the Graduate Student Center.  An 
average number of what GAPSA expects it will receive in discretionary funding requests 
should be reflected in the budget that is budgeted at the beginning of the year.  Mr. 
Lukens stated that part of instituting fiscal discipline is regulating the ad hoc way of 
approving funding requests.   
 
Ms. Heyward stated that she agreed with Mr. Lukens.  Ms. Heyward stated that a General 
Assembly discretionary fund should be allotted at the beginning of the year and should 
not be called a surplus.   
 
GAPSA Representative Stephanie Wujcik stated that if $15,000 were the amount of the 
discretionary fund then anything above that could be dispersed in different areas 
depending on where the funding needs are.  This will create structure and the Assembly 
will put more thought into what it funds.  Ms. Wujcik suggested looking into the 
purposes and mission statements of student groups soliciting GAPSA for funding and 
then the Assembly will decide if it will support that group.   
 



 
 
Mr. Shokair stated that even with a buffer sometimes it is difficult to determine how 
much has been spent.  Mr. Shokair suggested that if a committee overspends its budget, 
then this amount over the approved budget should some out of that committee’s budget 
the next year.   
 
Daily Pennsylvanian Article 
 
Mr. Friedman stated that the Daily Pennsylvanian (DP) should not print anything relating 
to graduate and professional students without first speaking to GAPSA.  Mr. Friedman 
stated that some students created a Facebook page supporting NYU students and the issue 
of violence against them.  Mr. Friedman stated that it would be in GAPSA’s interests that 
someone should speak to these students notifying them that GAPSA represents all 
graduate and professional students.  Mr. Friedman stated that GAPSA does not need to 
have an opinion, but that the DP should ask GAPSA to comment.   
 
Mr. Rennekamp stated that he was also concerned that this issue made front page 
coverage.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that this article was the written opinion of 12 students 
on campus while GAPSA represents 12,000 students.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that there is 
a DP reporter that covers GAPSA events, who has been doing a great job this semester, 
and that he had already spoken to her about the article.   
 
Mr. Rennekamp stated that he also spoke with the head of this Facebook group 
explaining that if GAPSA sends a letter to President Guttmann it carries more weight and 
meaning than if a small group sends the same letter.   
 
Mr. Rennekamp stated that in addition the Office of the President reached out to GAPSA 
to see if the Assembly has an opinion on this issue.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that he 
informed the President that the issue of violence against students has not come up in any 
GAPSA meeting but if any Assembly representative feel strongly about this issue, it 
would be put on the agenda.  If any member feels that unnecessary force is used against 
students at Penn, GAPSA would certainly want to know this. 
 
Adjournment  
 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:51 pm. 
 


